2000

# Karly Madsen v. The Estate of Kory Pasquin : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The probate court entered an Amended Final Judgment on September 26, 2000. Notice of Appeal was filed October 17, 2000.

## ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

### ISSUE ONE

**There is no statutory basis for the award of attorney's fees under the Utah Uniform Probate Code, and the award should be reversed.**

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** This matter of statutory construction presents an issue of law which the appellate court considers *de novo*. The appellate court gives no deference to the trial court on such a question of law, but is free to reappraise the trial court's legal conclusions. Winegar v. Froerer Corp., 813 P.2d 104 (Utah 1991). The appellate court reviews the trial court's legal conclusions for correctness. Schurtz v. BMW of N. Am., Inc., 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991).

**WHERE ISSUE PRESERVED IN THE PROBATE COURT:** On February 4, 1997, the personal representative filed "The Estate's Objection to and Disallowance of Request for Costs and for Attorney's Fees" arguing that the Utah Uniform Probate Code contains no provision for an award of attorney's fees in a proceeding to determine an heir, and that only costs can be claimed. (R. 664)

### ISSUE TWO

**The probate court failed to enter findings of fact to support the large award of attorney's fees, and the case should be remanded for entry of findings of fact sufficient to facilitate review on appeal.**

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** The threshold question of whether the trial court's findings of fact in support of an attorney's fee award are sufficiently detailed to facilitate appellate review is a question of law as to which the appellate court gives no deference to the trial court. The absence of such adequate findings of fact that are sufficiently detailed "precludes appellate

review of the evidentiary basis underlying the trial court's decision and requires remand for more detailed findings by the trial court." Matter of the Estate of Quinn, 830 P.2d 282 (Utah App. 1992).

**WHERE ISSUE PRESERVED IN THE PROBATE COURT:** On February 1, 1997, the estate filed "The Estate's Objection to Two Proposed Orders" in which the personal representative argued that the \$41,212.50 attorney's fee claim "appears excessive, was not raised at trial, and there is no showing that Mr. Steffensen's client's are liable to him for the fees." (R. 656)

#### **DETERMINATIVE STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

UCA Sec. 75-2-109 (1992) [Addendum]

UCA Sec. 75-2-114 (1998) [Addendum]

UCA Sec 78-45a (1994) [Addendum]

UCA Sec 78-45a (1997) [Addendum]

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Kristie Madsen filed a petition to have her daughter Karly Madsen declared to be an heir. Later Karly Madsen appeared on her own behalf.

The matter was finally settled through stipulated court-ordered DNA testing, with all parties accepting the results. The probate court awarded Karly Madsen \$41,212.50 in attorney's fees over the estate's objection that the award was without statutory basis and that the award was excessive.

#### **FACTS**

1. Kory Pasquin died on October 26, 1996, at the age of 28 years, while domiciled in Salt Lake County. (R.1)

2. As of the date of his death, only one child, Tori Lynn Pasquin, was listed in the official birth records as his child. No other children were listed in any official birth record or other official record as his children. (R.2)

3. Candance M. Souter, the mother of Tori Lynn Pasquin, was appointed personal representative of The Estate of Kory Pasquin by the Hon. Tyrone E. Medley, Salt Lake County Probate Judge, on March 4, 1997. (R.8)

4. On April 21, 1997, one Kristie Madsen, the mother of Karly Yvette Madsen, filed a petition claiming that Kristie Madsen had "a property right in or a claim against the decedent's estate individually and on behalf of her minor child, who is also decedent's minor child." (R.11)

5. On May 12, 1997, the personal representative filed a response to that petition and filed official birth certificates showing that Kory Pasquin was listed as the father on the birth certificate of Tori Lynn Pasquin dated February 10, 1994, but was not listed as the father in the birth certificate of Karly Yvette Madsen dated February 5, 1996. (R.23, 27, and 29)

6. On May 14, 1997, the Hon. Tyrone E. Medley heard the petition and referred it to the trial calendar of the Hon. Leslie Lewis. (R.38)

7. On January 16, 1998, the attorneys who had previously filed the mother Kristie Madsen when she filed the subject petition dated April 21, 1997, filed a "Petitioner's Trial Brief" in which they asserted that the minor child Karly Yvette Madsen was now the petitioner and that they were her attorneys. In that trial brief, said attorneys conceded that "(t)he sole factual issue at trial is whether Karly Yvette Madsen is Kory Pasquin's child." (R. 440) They further conceded that "(t)he petitioner, Karly Madsen, bears the initial burden of proof in establishing that Kory Pasquin is her father. The standard of proof in making that determination is 'by clear and convincing proof.' U.C.A. Section 75-2-109(2)(b)." (R. 440) They further conceded that "(g)enetic test evidence must be based on a proper evidentiary foundation showing that appropriate procedures were established and routinely followed

to assure reliability in the performance of the tests, chain of custody, etc." (R. 444) (underlined emphasis appears in original trial brief as filed). On that same date, they also filed a "Petitioner's Motion in Limine" in which they indicated they intended to introduce the results of some non-court-ordered DNA testing that had been conducted prior to Kory Pasquin's death. (R.411)

8. On January 26, 1998, the personal representative filed a response to said motion in limine within her "Consolidated Response to Pending Trial and Discovery Motions" in which she argued "(s)ince children born out of wedlock had no right to inherit under the common law, any right of a child born out of wedlock to inherit from the father is a statutory creation and applicable statutory procedure must be followed. The applicable procedure is found at UCA Sec. 78-45a-10 (July 1, 1997) That procedure requires a party to file a motion and obtain a court order prior to genetic testing." (R. 501)

9. Rather than seeking and obtaining a court-ordered DNA test, petitioner Karly Madsen elected to proceed with non-court-ordered DNA test, results arguing in a filing dated January 30, 1998, that "(a) genetic test was in fact performed in March of 1996 involving the decedent, Karly Madsen, and her mother, Kristie Madsen. If the appropriate tests for admissibility can be met . . . the genetic test will be admissible." (R. 511)

10. Based on Karly Madsen's stated intent to proceed with non-court-ordered DNA test results rather than seeking and obtaining a court-ordered DNA test, the personal representative gave notice that if Karly Madsen elected to proceed with the non-court-ordered DNA test results rather than obtaining a court-ordered DNA test, the personal representative would oppose an award of attorney's fees. "The personal representative has both the right and the duty to put (Karly Madsen's counsel) to his proof . . . . Instead



of simply obtaining a DNA test in the manner mandated by statute (Karly Madsen's counsel) has done everything he can to get around and avoid the statute." (Memorandum of the Estate in Opposition to Karly Madsen's Motion for Attorney's Fees, February 6, 1998) (R. 527)

11. On November 18, 1998, the Hon. Leslie A. Lewis entered an order providing that "the admissibility of non-court ordered . . . genetic test results that Petitioner Karly Madsen seeks to admit into evidence in the trial of this matter, will be governed by the normal and usual tests for the admissibility of such evidence . . . (R. 603)

12. At the trial of this case, petitioner failed to call any foundation outpatient laboratory witness who could testify that he or she drew blood from the late Kory Pasquin for purposes of establishing a chain of custody of evidence. Instead, the petitioner called a testing laboratory physician who had received a blood sample from an outpatient laboratory over whom he had no supervisory responsibility, who testified "I'm not a legal expert, but my understanding of the chain of custody requirements are so that you can trust the evidence. And this comes particularly in a court ordered test where you want to make sure that a sample has been in proper custody the entire time. For instance, in a criminal investigation, if a sample was found at a crime scene, that the sample could be accounted for from the time the police officer or detective picked it up to the time it eventually got tested by the forensic laboratory. In normal medical testing we don't trace a blood sample through as carefully as we do when it is a court ordered test." (T. 253, emphasis added) When this testing physician was asked whether "at the time this '96 test was performed there was no court order that a test be done?" he responded "That's correct." (T. 307)

13. When counsel for petitioner began referring to the non-court-ordered DNA test results without first calling any foundation witness from the outpatient laboratory who could testify that he or she drew blood from the late Kory Pasquin and then forwarded them to the testing laboratory (for purposes of establishing a chain of custody of evidence) (and prior to the admission of those test results into evidence), counsel for the personal representative objected, and the court secured a commitment from counsel for petitioner that he would tie it up later. However, counsel for petitioner failed to call such a foundation witness from the outpatient laboratory, and the physician who had performed the test testified (as to such a potential "tie-up" witness) "I am not their direct supervisor, and my supervisory power, or whatever, is only that of a contractor. I mean, somebody who is buying services from the outpatient laboratory and that they're providing those for us." At that point, counsel for the personal representative again objected: "Your Honor, briefly, with all due respect to (counsel for petitioner) I didn't see anyone on his witness list that would be able to tie this up later and so I am a little concerned about having this witness read something that is not going to be tied up later." At that point, a bench conference was held at the conclusion of which counsel for petitioner moves to another subject (T. 263)

14. Even though counsel for Karly Madsen failed to call a foundation witness from the outpatient laboratory to testify that he or she drew blood from the late Kory Pasquin (for purposes of establishing a chain of custody of evidence), the trial court allowed the DNA test results into evidence without such a foundation witness, over the estate's objection. (T. 272) The trial jury decided the factual issue of whether Karly Yvette Madsen is Kory Pasquin's child and heir in favor of paternity and heirship. (R. 636).

15. Even though Karly Madsen had identified the question of "whether Karly Yvette Madsen is Kory Pasquin's child" as the "sole factual issue at trial" and even though there was no finding at the trial that the number of heirs was limited to two heirs, Karly Madsen mailed a proposed "Final Judgement" on January 22, 1999, providing that Karly Madsen was "entitled to one-half of the Kory Pasquin's intestate estate" together with attorney's fees and costs, interest on such attorney's fees and costs, plus petitioner's attorney's fees and costs in "collecting" the said judgment. (R. 678) On January 26, 1998, Karly Madsen's counsel filed an affidavit claiming attorney's fees in the sum of \$41,212.50.

16. The estate filed a timely objection on February 1, 1999, pointing out that "(w)hether or not Karly Madsen is entitled to one-half of the estate turns on whether any more claimants come forward claiming to have had a child fathered by the late Kory Pasquin. That issue was not resolved at trial and no ruling was made a trial limiting the late Kory Pasquin's children to two." The estate also indicated in the same filing that it opposed the claim of attorney's fees as excessive and without legal basis and would file a separate paper objecting to and disallowing the attorney's fee claim. (R. 656).

17. Three-days later, on February 4, 1999, the estate timely filed "The Estate's Objection to and Disallowance of Request for Costs and for Attorney's Fees" in which the estate argued that the Utah Uniform Probate Code contains no provision for an award of attorney's fees in a proceeding to determine an heir, and that only costs can be claimed. (R. 664)

18. Said "Final Judgement" was entered on March 2, 1999, over the estate's objection, providing that Karly Madsen was "entitled to one-half of

the Kory Pasquin's intestate estate" together with attorney's fees and costs, interest on such attorney's fees and costs, plus petitioner's attorney's fees and costs in "collecting" the said judgment. (R. 678)

19. The estate filed a notice of appeal on March 31, 1999. (R. 686)

20. On April 29, 1999, Sheri Marion, the natural mother of Kody Jon Marion, filed a "Petition for Determination of Additional Heirs and Demand for Notice" asserting that her child was a third child and heir. (R. 695)

21. On May 19, 1999, Karly Madsen filed an "Objection to Determination of Additional Heirs and Objection to the Entry of Any Order Determining Kody Jon Marion to be an Additional Heir of Kory Pasquin and His Estate" in which Karly Madsen argued that the court had "entered a Final Judgment on Karly Madsen's claim of paternity wherein the Court decreed that Karly Madsen is an heir of the Decedent's estate and accordingly is entitled to one-half of the Decedent's Estate (with the other one-half going to Tory Lynn Pasquin)." (R. 708)

22. On May 25, 1999, the estate filed an objection to the petition of Sheri Marion based on a lack of subject matter jurisdiction, since the case was on appeal of a final order. "The estate timely objected to that final order in the trial court on the ground that there might be other heirs. The Marion petition so claims. An appeal of the final order was timely taken by the estate. The estate will urge reversal on appeal based, *inter alia*, on that same ground." (R. 711). On August 11, 1999, the trial court declined to exercise jurisdiction, writing in a minute entry that "it is decided that until the Court of Appeals has the final order on the case, this court will not take further action." (R. 797) On August 24, 1999, the trial court entered an order awarding attorney's fees in the sum of \$41,212.50 to Karly Madsen. (R. 803)

23. On January 3, 2000, counsel for the personal representative, counsel for Karly Madsen, and counsel for Sheri Marion filed a stipulation prepared by counsel for Sheri Marion and signed by all of them. (R. 809).

24. On January 3, 2000, counsel for the personal representative, counsel for Karly Madsen, and counsel for Sheri Marion filed a joint motion for court-ordered DNA testing. (R. 811)

25. On January 11, 2000, Judge Leslie A. Lewis signed an order for court-ordered DNA testing. (R. 813)

26. On March 16, 2000, the estate filed a motion to dismiss the appeal "without prejudice". Karly Madsen responded with a memorandum on March 31, 2000, that the appeal should be dismissed "with prejudice". The estate filed a reply on April 4, 2000, that the appeal should be dismissed "without prejudice" on the ground, *inter alia*, that the "Final Judgement" entered on March 2, 1999, was interlocutory in nature, even though it was styled as a "Final Judgement" on its face. The Supreme Court granted the motion to dismiss the appeal "without prejudice" on April 18, 2000. (R. 820)

27. On June 15, 2000, upon receiving the results of the DNA testing ordered by the court on January 11, 2000, the estate filed "Estate of Kory Pasquin's Notice of DNA Test Results and Recognition of Heirs" in which the estate gave notice that said court ordered DNA testing had established that Karly Madsen and Kody Marion were children of the late Kory Pasquin and that Sheri Marion is the child of and that based on this DNA test as to Karly Madsen and Kody Marion and "public records of live births" as to Tory Pasquin, that Tory Pasquin, Kody Marion, and Karly Madsen are children and heirs of the late Kory Pasquin." (R. 842)

28. On June 28, 2000, the Hon. Leslie A. Lewis entered an order providing that "(p)ursuant to the stipulation of the parties on file herein and the notice filed by the estate on June 15, 2000, recognizing three (3) persons as heirs, the court, being sufficiently advised" all prior orders awarding half of the estate to Karly Madsen were stricken and "there being an unresolved issue of law" over attorney's fees, no such award is made "at this time without prejudice to the right to raise and fully brief the issue." ( R. 860)

29. On July 27, 2000, Judge Leslie A. Lewis made a minute entry order vacating her order of June 28, 2000. (R. 937).

30. On September 26, 2000, Judge Leslie A. Lewis entered an "Amended Final Judgment". (R. 971). On October 17, 2000, the estate timely filed a notice of appeal of the amended final judgment entered on September 26, 2000, "and all prior attorneys' fee and cost orders". (R. 860)

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

- There is no statutory basis for the attorney's fee award below.
- The case should be remanded for failure to make findings of fact.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **POINT ONE**

**There is no statutory basis for the award of attorney's fees under the Utah Uniform Probate Code, and the award should be reversed.**

Kristie Madsen filed her petition to have her daughter Karly Madsen determined to be an heir on April 21, 1997. The applicable probate code provision effective on that date appeared at UCA 75-2-109 (1992), a copy of which is annexed hereto. That provision provided that paternity must be established by clear and convincing evidence, but it did not contain any provision for attorney's fees, nor did it contain any reference to the Uniform

Act on Paternity appearing at Chapter 45a of Title 78 (1994) of the Utah Code. The trial of Kristie Madsen's petition was scheduled for January 26, 1998. Trial preparation was done with an eye on that date, including, but not limited trial subpoena service and return of service by the estate. (R. 489)

Ten calendar days before that trial date, on January 16, 1998, the pretrial was held. ( R. 487) Due to a conflict in the court's calendar, the court ordered the trial continued for four months to May 26, 1998. The court entered and mailed an order (R. 486) on January 20, 1998, continuing the trial to May 26, 1998. As the parties had already prepared for trial and pretried the case on January 16, 1998, the judge ruled "(n)o further pretrial is needed." (R. 487) Between January 16, 1998, and May 22, 1998, motion, discovery, and other issues were addressed. ((R. 487 through R. 575)

On May 22, 1998, a scheduling conference was held in which the court continued the May 26, 1998, trial date to September 1, 1998. (R. 576)

There were no further court filings after May 22, 1998, through July 1, 1998. Effective July 1, 1998, the Utah Uniform Probate code was amended.

The new applicable probate code provision effective on that date appeared at UCA 75-2-114 (1998), a copy of which is annexed hereto.

That new applicable provision also did not contain any provision for attorney's fees, but it did contain a reference to the Uniform Act on Paternity. appearing at Chapter 45a of Title 78 (1997) of the Utah Code. Thus, from the time that Kristie Madsen filed her petition on April 21, 1997 (R. 11), until the law was changed effective July 1, 1998, there was no basis in the Utah Uniform Probate Code for an attorney's fee award. There was no basis for an award after that date unless the court construes the reference from the Utah Uniform Probate Code to the Uniform Act on Paternity to incorporate an

attorney's fee provision by reference. This presents an issue of first impression in Utah. Furthermore, the petition filed by Kristie Madsen on April 21, 1997, did not pray for attorney's fees. Interestingly, Kristie Madsen continued to participate in this probate until August 14, 1997, the last date on which she filed something on behalf of her daughter. (R. 74). Without explanation, on August 27, 1997, her attorney, David W. Steffensen, caused a paper to be filed in which he indicated he was counsel for both Kristie Madsen and Karly Madsen. (R. 82). Then, on August 29, 1997, again without explanation to the court or to the personal representative, David W. Steffensen began signing papers as attorney for Karly Madsen only. (R. 84).

On January 16, 1998, Karly Madsen filed a motion for attorney's fees pursuant to UCA Sec. 78-45a-5(4). (R. 404) As set forth above, the applicable Utah Uniform Probate Code provision then in effect contained no reference to the Uniform Act on Paternity at Chapter 45a of Title 78.

Accordingly, none of the attorney's fees incurred by Kristie Madsen from April 21, 1997, through August 14, 1997, should be awarded to Karly Madsen. None of Karly Madsen's attorney's fees incurred by her between August 14, 1997, and July 1, 1998, should be awarded to her because there was no statutory basis for same in effect during that period of time or in effect when she filed her motion for attorney's fees on January 16, 1998.

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