2000

Yvette Madsen as guardian, and Karly Madsen v. The Estate of Kory Pasquin : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On appeal, the Estate argues that this Court should reverse the District Court's award of Karly's attorney's fees, and argues two issues: 1) there is purportedly no statutory basis for the award of attorney's fees; and 2) the District Court failed to enter findings of fact and conclusions of law to support the award of Karly's attorney's fees. However, the Estate also argues a number of other issues that are scattered throughout its brief in random order.

The Court should reject the Estate's arguments, and affirm the District Court's rulings and the award of attorney's fees and costs to Karly for the following reasons:

1. This Court has no jurisdiction to hear this appeal because the Estate did not file its appeal within thirty days of the entry of the Final Judgment in this matter as required by Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure;
2. The Estate's appeal is barred by the terms of the Stipulation.
3. There is explicit statutory authority for the award of Karly's attorney's fees;
4. The Estate's appeal is barred by the doctrine of estoppel;
5. The Estate's appeal is barred by the doctrine of waiver;
6. The Estate's appeal is barred by the doctrine of quasi-estoppel;
7. The Estate's appeal is barred by the doctrine of judicial estoppel;
8. The Estate failed to raise the lack of findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding the award of attorney's fees at the District Court level, and is thus barred from raising it on appeal for the first time;
9. Findings of fact and conclusions of law are implicit in the District Court's award of attorney's fees and costs to Karly. Judge Cornaby, after reviewing written testimony and evidence, and after presiding over a hearing, held Karly's attorney's fees and costs to be reasonable and entered an order awarding her the fees. Moreover, Judge Lewis carefully reviewed the evidence considered by Judge Cornaby, and issued a written ruling upholding the award of attorney's fees; and
10. Karly's attorney's fees were reasonable.

ARGUMENT

1. This Court has no jurisdiction to hear this appeal because the Estate did not file its appeal within thirty days of the entry of the Final Judgment in this matter as required by Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

The District Court entered the Final Judgment awarding Karly her attorney's fees and costs on March 22, 1999. The Estate filed its Notice of Appeal in the present action on October 17, 2000, one year and seven months after the District Court entered its Final Judgment. Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure requires that a notice of appeal must be filed within 30 days of the date the District Court enters judgment or order appealed from. Therefore, because the Notice of Appeal was not filed within 30 days of the date of the Final Judgment, this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear the Estate's appeal, and the Court should dismiss the Estate's appeal.

2. The Estate's appeal is barred by the terms of the Stipulation.

Under Utah law, stipulations are conclusive and binding on the parties.¹ "Ordinarily, courts are bound by the stipulations of the parties."² Therefore, the Estate is bound by the terms of the Stipulation.

Under the clear and unambiguous terms of the Stipulation, if genetic testing proved that Kody Marion was Kory's child, the results were to be taken as "conclusive evidence" that Karly is the natural child of Kory, "therefore determining once and for all that Kody

¹ *Maxwell v. Maxwell*, 796 P.2d 403, 406 (Utah App. 1990); *Higley v. McDonald*, 685 P.2d 496, 499 (Utah 1984); *Dove v. Cude*, 710 P.2d 170, 171 (Utah 1985).

² *First Denver Mortgage Investors v. Zundel*, 600 P.2d 521, 527 (Utah 1979).

Marion and Karly Madsen are heirs to the estate of Kory Pasquin.” Stipulation ¶ 2 (December 23, 1999). Furthermore, in such case, the Estate was required to dismiss its appeal in *Pasquin I*. If the Estate wanted to appeal the Final Judgment and award of Karly’s attorney’s fees, it could have proceeded with *Pasquin I*. Instead, the Estate chose to enter into the Stipulation. Karly relied on the Estate’s agreement to dismiss its appeal when she entered into the Stipulation—the sole further action to be the amendment of the Final Judgment to include Kody as an heir.

The genetic testing proved that Kody Marion is the child of Kory Pasquin. Therefore, it was conclusively determined that Karly is Kory’s child, and an heir of the Estate. The Estate then dismissed its appeal in *Pasquin I*.

Notwithstanding the Stipulation, in Appellant’s Brief the Estate attempts to resurrect the issue of paternity, extensively briefing the evidence Karly introduced at trial, and focusing primarily on the paternity issue. The Estate argues that Karly did not comply with the requirements for genetic testing under Utah Code § 78-45a-10 (1997), and that she failed to provide sufficient foundation for the genetic testing that she relied on at trial. The Estate’s lengthy recitation of the procedure, evidence, and testimony at trial is irrelevant to the present appeal, however, because the Stipulation renders all of these issues moot. Pursuant to the Stipulation, it has now been conclusively established that Karly is the natural child of Kory Pasquin. There is simply no issue regarding paternity, nor is there any issue as to whether Karly’s evidence satisfied the requirements of the Utah Uniform Paternity Act.

The Estate abandoned its appeal in *Pasquin I*. The terms of the Stipulation bar the Estate’s present appeal and its attempt to revive issues of paternity. Therefore, this Court

should reject the Estate's arguments, and affirm the District Court's rulings.

3. There is a statutory basis for the award of Karly's attorney's fees and costs.

Even though there was a DNA test that proved that Kory Pasquin was Karly's father, under Utah Code § 78-45a-10 (1997), the Estate objected to the DNA test that proved that Kory Pasquin was Karly's father. The Estate insisted that it had the right to a trial at which Karly had to establish paternity under the Utah Uniform Act on Paternity (R. 501). Therefore, the District Court held a jury trial, the governing law being the UUAP, which resulted in a jury verdict that Kory Pasquin was Karly's father. The UUAP explicitly provides for the award of attorney's fees, witness fees, and costs upon a judgment of paternity. Utah Code § 78-45a-5(4) (1997).³ Therefore, there is a clear and unambiguous statutory basis for the District Court's award of Karly's attorney's fees and costs, and this Court should affirm the rulings of the District Court.

4. The Doctrine of estoppel bars the Estate from bringing this appeal.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that a party is estopped from asserting a legal position if the following three elements are present:

(i) a statement, admission, act, or failure to act by one party inconsistent with a claim later asserted; (ii) reasonable action or inaction by the other party taken or not taken on the basis of the first party's statement, admission, act, or failure to act; and (iii) injury to the second party that would result from allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate such statement, admission, act, or failure to act.⁴

³ "The Court may enter an order awarding costs, attorney fees, and witness fees in the manner prescribed in Section 30-3-3 upon a judgment or acknowledgment of paternity." Utah Code § 78-45a-5(4) (1997).

⁴ *S&G, Inc. v. Intermountain Power Agency*, 913 P.2d 735, 741-42 (Utah 1996), *quoting* *CECO v. Concrete Specialists, Inc.*, 772 P.2d 967, 969-70 (Utah 1989).

All three of the elements of estoppel are present in the Estate's appeal. First, in the Stipulation, the Estate agreed to withdraw its first appeal if DNA testing proved that Kory Pasquin was the father of Kody Marion. Second, Karly took action by agreeing to the terms of the stipulation if it contained a provision for dismissal of *Pasquin I*, and Karly agreed to modification of the Final Judgment only if the Estate's appeal was dismissed. Third, Karly is suffering injury by allowing the Estate to proceed with the present appeal. Karly is being forced to incur substantial additional attorney's fees in connection with the appeal, and she is forced to litigate an issue which was resolved by stipulation. Therefore, the Estate's appeal is barred by the doctrine of estoppel, and the Court should affirm the District Court's rulings.

5. The doctrine of waiver bars the Estate from bringing this appeal.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that the doctrine of waiver is the "intentional relinquishment of a known right," which occurs when three elements are present: "(1) an existing right, benefit, or advantage; (2) knowledge of its existence; and (3) an intention to relinquish the right."⁵ The Estate is barred by the doctrine of waiver because all three elements of the doctrine are present in this case.

First, in the Stipulation, the Estate intentionally and knowingly relinquished an existing right to appeal the award of attorney's fees and costs—in fact, the Estate was pursuing its rights in *Pasquin I* when it entered into the Stipulation, and the Estate voluntarily dismissed that appeal. Thus, there was the existence of a right, knowledge of its existence, and an intention to relinquish that right. As the Utah Court of Appeals has said:

⁵ *Soter's Inc. v. Deseret Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n*, 857 P.2d 935, 939-40 (Utah 1993).

Generally in legal proceedings a party with knowledge of all the facts will not be allowed to take a position, pursue that position to fruition, and later, with no substantial change in circumstances, return to attack the validity of the prior position or the outcome flowing from it.⁶

Therefore, the Estate's appeal is barred by the doctrine of waiver, and the Court should affirm the District Court's rulings.

6. The doctrine of quasi-estoppel bars the Estate from bringing this appeal.

The doctrine of quasi-estoppel bars a party from changing its position in litigation when "it appeals to the conscience of the court to prevent injustice by precluding a party from asserting a right inconsistent with a position previously taken by him."⁷ The doctrine of quasi-estoppel "was developed to prevent a party from retaining a benefit by asserting a position to the disadvantage of another and then asserting a right which is inconsistent with that previous position."⁸ Quasi-estoppel operates to bar a party from asserting inconsistent positions when the party (1) with knowledge of the facts (2) takes a position inconsistent with its former position (3) to the disadvantage of another.⁹ Under the doctrine of quasi-estoppel, "where one having the right to accept or reject a transaction or instrument takes

⁶ *Occidental/Nebraska Federal Savings Bank v. Mehr*, 791 P.2d 217, 220 (Utah App. 1990); citing 28 Am. Jur. 2d *Estoppel and Waiver* §§ 68-70 (1966).

⁷ *Willard v. Ward*, 875 P.2d 441, 443 (Okla. Ct. App. 1994), citing *Jamison v. Consolidated Utilities, Inc.*, 576 P.2d 97, 102 (Alaska 1978)). See also *Sailes v. Jones*, 499 P.2d 721, 724 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1972), *reh'd denied* (quoting *Unruh v. Industrial Comm'n*, 301 P.2d 1029, 1031 (Ariz. 1956)); *Pattison v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 495 P.2d 975, 980 (Kan. 1972).

⁸ *Keesee v. Fetzek*, 723 P.2d 904, 905 (Idaho Ct. App. 1986).

⁹ See *Steubner Realty 19, Ltd. v. Cravens Rd. 88, Ltd.*, 817 S.W.2d 160, 164 (Tex. App. 1991) (citing *Stimpson v. Plano Indep. School Dist.*, 743 S.W.2d 944, 946 (Tex. App. 1987, *writ denied*); 31 C.J.S. *Estoppel* § 107 (1964)).

and retains benefits thereunder, he ratifies it, and cannot avoid its obligation or effect by taking a position inconsistent with it.”¹⁰

The elements of quasi-estoppel are present in this appeal. In the Stipulation, the Estate agreed to dismiss its appeal, and Karly entered into the Stipulation in reliance upon the Estate’s promise to dismiss its appeal. The Estate did dismiss *Pasquin I*. However, the Estate now wishes to renew its appeal, to the disadvantage of Karly Madsen. Therefore, the doctrine of quasi-estoppel bars the Estate’s present appeal, and this Court should and affirm the rulings of the District Court.

7. The Doctrine of judicial estoppel bars the Estate from bringing this appeal.

Under the doctrine of judicial estoppel, a “person may not, to the prejudice of another person deny any position taken in a prior judicial proceeding between the same persons or their privies involving the same subject-matter, if such prior position is successfully maintained.”¹¹ In the Stipulation entered while *Pasquin I* was pending, the Estate took the position that if a DNA test proved that Kody Marion was Kory Pasquin’s child, then that test would serve as “conclusive evidence” that Karly Madsen was Kory’s child. The Estate also took the position that it would then dismiss its appeal in *Pasquin I*.

Nonetheless, the Estate has revived its appeal, and argues issues regarding paternity and the award of Karly’s attorney’s fees and costs. The doctrine of judicial estoppel bars this appeal, which is inconsistent with the Stipulation in the prior proceeding. Therefore, this

¹⁰ *Carolina Medicorp, Inc. v. Board of Trustees of North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Med. Plan*, 456 S.E.2d 116, 120 (N.C. Ct. App. 1995).

¹¹ *Salt Lake City v. Silver Fork Pipeline*, 913 P.2d 731, 734 (Utah 1996); *see also Salt Lake City v. Silver Fork Pipeline Corp.*, 5 P.3d 1206, 1222 (Utah 2000).

Court should affirm the District Court's rulings.

8. The Estate's appeal is barred because it failed to raise the lack of findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding the award of attorney's fees at the District Court level.

The Estate argues that this Court should reverse the District Court's award of Karly's attorney's fees and costs because the District Court did not enter findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding the fee award. However, the Court's Order Awarding Attorney's Fees, Costs, and Witness Fees contains an extensive and detailed recitation of the facts, testimony, pleadings, papers, hearing, and arguments upon which it based its decision to award Karly her fees. Thus, although the District Court did not caption its Order as "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law," the Order contains the substance that would be contained in findings.

Moreover, at the trial level, the Estate vigorously opposed the award of Karly's fees, and argued the matter to two District Court judges, who both found the fees to be reasonable. Thus, the Estate had ample opportunity to request the entry of findings of fact, but it did not do so. If the Estate had made such a request, the District Court could have obliged the Estate by entering a separate document captioned "Findings of Fact." However, it is in this appeal that the Estate raises the issue of findings for the first time.

It is axiomatic that this Court will not consider issues that can be raised at the trial court level, but are raised for the first time on appeal.¹² The rule against considering new is-

¹² See, e.g., *Espinal v. Salt Lake City Bd. Of Educ.*, 797 P.2d 412, 413 (Utah 1990); *Progressive Acquisition, Inc. v. Lytle*, 806 P.2d 239, 242 (Utah App. 1991); *Ringwood v. Foreign Auto Works, Inc.*, 786 P.2d 1350, 1358 (Utah App.), cert. denied, 795 P.2d 1138 (Utah 1990); *Shire Dev. v. Frontier Invs.*, 799 P.2d 221, 224 (Utah App. 1990); *Werner-Jacobsen v. Bednarik*, 946 P.2d 744, 748 (Utah App. 1997); *Certified Sur. Group, Ltd. v. UT Inc.*, 960 P.2d 904, 906 (Utah 1998).

sues on appeal is ancient.¹³ Judge Ruggero Aldisert of the Court of Appeals of the Third Circuit has succinctly stated the rationale for the continued application of the ancient rule in modern practice. Judge Aldisert has said that the reasons for the rule:

[G]o to the heart of the common law tradition and the adversary system. It affords an opportunity for correction and avoidance in the trial court in various ways: it gives the adversary the opportunity either to avoid the challenged action or to present a reasoned defense of the trial court's action; *and it provides the trial court with the alternative of altering or modifying a decision or of ordering a more fully developed record for review.* (emphasis added).¹⁴

If an appellate court were to deviate from this ancient rule, it would inject a degree of uncertainty into the law that is detrimental to our system of justice, and weaken the predictability that is an important part of appellate review. Without this predictability, appellate review is degraded into a process in which appellants attempt to relitigate the issues and to persuade the appellate court that the trial court did not reach the “right” result. Thus, every appeal would become a *de novo* proceeding in which the appellate court holds a trial on the merits. This is exactly what the Estate attempts to do in the present appeal.

Rule 46 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure embodies the rationale for the ancient rule against considering new issues on appeal. Rule 46 requires a party, “at the time the rul-

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